## SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. SC10-974

L.T. CASE NOS. 4D08-4796 4D08-4797 502008CA4416

502008CA4419

140 ASSOCIATES, LTD, etc., et al.,

Appellants,

v.

SEACOAST NATIONAL BANK, etc., et al.,
Appellees.

# **APPELLANTS' INITIAL BRIEF**

ROBERT A. SWEETAPPLE, ESQ. Sweetapple, Broeker & Varkas, P. L. 165 East Boca Raton Road Boca Raton, Florida 33432 Telephone: (561) 392-1230

Facsimile: (561) 392-1230

 $Email: \ rsweet apple @sweet apple law.com$ 

# **

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

140 owned a two-story bank and office building ("140 Building") in Boca Raton, Florida. In October, 2006, Seacoast loaned \$3,200,000.00 to 140, and 140 gave Seacoast a first mortgage ("Seacoast Mortgage") on the 140 Building. The Seacoast Mortgage was personally guaranteed by Talbott ("Talbott's Guaranty").

On February 15, 2008, Seacoast filed a Verified Complaint for Foreclosure of the Seacoast Mortgage (Count II), for a Money Judgment on Talbott's Guaranty (Count IV), and for other relief. A First Amended Verified Complaint ("Verified Complaint") was filed on March 24, 2008 (A: 1).

The Verified Complaint, at paragraph 2, alleges:

Plaintiff, Seacoast National Bank, a National Banking Association ("Seacoast") is a National Banking Association, which, at all relevant times to this action, was and is doing business in Palm Beach County, Florida.

On May 15, 2008, Seacoast filed its Motion for Summary Judgment. (A: 2).

On August 18, 2008, 140 and Talbott filed the Affidavit of Gregory K. Talbott ("Talbott Affidavit"). (A:3). The Talbott Affidavit states in part:

7. Seacoast is a National Banking Association chartered by the United States of America Department of Treasury Comptroller of the Currency. Seacoast is not registered with the State of Florida Department of State Division of Corporations, as a foreign corporation transacting business in the State of Florida.

At the October 16, 2008, Summary Judgment Hearing the Circuit Court requested memoranda of law on the issue from the parties. (A:10 – pgs. 27-28)

Seacoast, in its Supplemental Memorandum of Law in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment ("Supplemental Memorandum") (A: 4), acknowledges that Seacoast: (a) is a national bank chartered by the United States Comptroller of the Currency; (b) is a foreign corporation transacting business in Florida; and (c) by choice, does not hold a Certificate of Authority to transact business in Florida as a foreign corporation.

On October 29, 2008, the Circuit Court entered a Final Summary Judgment of Foreclosure ("Foreclosure Judgment") against 140 (A: 5), and a Final Judgment against Talbott ("Talbott Guaranty Judgment") on Talbott's Guaranty (A: 6).

140 and Talbott timely appealed to the District Court. (A: 7).

On appeal to the District Court, 140 and Talbott argued that the Foreclosure Judgment and the Talbott Guaranty Judgment should be reversed and the Verified Complaint dismissed without prejudice because Seacoast, despite the clear mandate of section 607.1501(1), Florida Statutes, at no time held and maintained a Certificate of Authority from the Florida Department of State to transact business in Florida as a foreign corporation. Section 607.1502(1), Florida Statutes provides

that Seacoast shall not maintain any action in a Florida court until it holds a Certificate of Authority. The Circuit Court, therefore, never had subject matter jurisdiction over the Seacoast claims set forth in the Verified Complaint.

The District Court affirmed with opinion ("Opinion"), holding that section 607.1501(1), Florida Statutes, was expressly pre-empted by the National Bank Act. 770 PPR, LLC v. TJVC Land Trust, supra.

In the Opinion, the District Court first held that because there is a significant federal presence in national banking that the presumption regarding Congressional intent shifted in favor of federal pre-emption of section 607.1501(1), Florida Statutes.

The District Court then stated: "Because this case presents a novel issue in Florida, we find the holdings in numerous foreign jurisdictions to be persuasive." 770 PPR, LLC v. TJVC Land Trust, supra, at 617.

Finally, citing <u>Bank of America v. Lima</u>, 103 F. Supp. 916 (D. Mass. 1952), <u>Indiana Nat'l Bank v. Roberts</u>, 326 So. 2d 802 (Miss. 1976), and <u>State Nat'l Bank of Conn. V. Laura</u>, 45 Misc.2d 430, 256 N.Y.S.2d 1004 (Westchester County Ct. 1965), the District Court held:

These cases demonstrate the law is well-established that a state cannot require a national bank to register or file as a "foreign corporation" in order to maintain a lawsuit in state court. In view of these holdings and the plain language of 12 U.S.C. § 24, Subdivision Fourth, we find

that section 607.1502(1) is expressly preempted as applied to all national banking associations.

770 PPR, LLC v. TJVC Land Trust, supra, at 618.

This appeal invoking the mandatory jurisdiction of the Florida Supreme Court timely followed. (A: 8).

Prior to this appeal, Seacoast acquired the 140 Building at the Foreclosure Sale and later sold the 140 Building.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The point on appeal is a pure question of law. Matters of law are reviewed de novo, particularly where the issue is the federal pre-emption of a Florida statute. Marcy v. Daimler Chrysler Corp., 921 So. 2d 781 (Fla. 5th DCA 2006).

The Florida Supreme Court has mandatory jurisdiction of any "decisions of the district courts of appeal declaring invalid a state statute . . ." Rule 9.030(a)(1)(A)(ii), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure. The District Court invoked the doctrine of federal pre-emption to declare section 607.1501(1), Florida Statutes, invalid as to national banks. Declaring a Florida statute invalid as to a class is within the mandatory jurisdiction of the Florida Supreme Court. See State v. Rubio, 967 So. 2d 768 (Fla. 2007); State v. Harden, 938 So. 2d 480 (Fla. 2006).

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Seacoast is a national bank chartered by the United States. Seacoast operates 42 retail branch banks in Florida. Seacoast is a foreign corporation transacting business in Florida. Seacoast is required, under section 607.1501(1), Florida Statutes, to file with the Florida Department of State and hold a Certificate of Authority to transact business in Florida as a foreign corporation. Seacoast at no time in these proceedings held a Certificate of Authority. Seacoast had numerous opportunities prior to entry of the Foreclosure Judgment and the Talbott Guaranty Judgment to obtain a Certificate of Authority.

Section 607.1502(1), Florida Statutes, provides that a foreign corporation may not maintain a lawsuit in a Florida court unless and until it holds a Certificate of Authority.

Section 607.1501(1), Florida Statutes, is <u>not</u> pre-empted by the National Bank Act. Congress did not intend the National Bank Act to pre-empt state laws such as section 607.1501(1), Florida Statutes. The National Bank Act does not expressly pre-empt state laws such as section 607.1501(1), Florida Statutes.

With regard to section 607.1501(1), Florida Statutes, the presumption is against pre-emption.

The National Bank Act does not implicitly pre-empt state laws such as Section 607.1501(1), Florida Statutes, because: (a) there is no similar federal

repository of corporate information on National Banks; (b) Seacoast may comply with both the National Bank Act and section 607.1501(1), Florida Statutes, without conflict; (c) section 607.1501(1), Florida Statutes, does not place any burden on the operation of Seacoast as a national bank.

As a result of Seacoast's failure to hold a Certificate of Authority, the Circuit Court never had subject matter jurisdiction over the claims in the Verified Complaint. Subject matter jurisdiction may not be waived. Subject matter jurisdiction may be raised at any time. The Foreclosure Judgment and the Talbott Guaranty Judgment should be reversed and vacated. On remand, the Circuit Court should be instructed to dismiss the Verified Complaint without prejudice.

#### **ARGUMENT**

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED WHEN RULING ON THE BASIS OF FEDERAL PRE-EMPTION THAT SEACOAST NATIONAL BANK COULD SEEK FORECLOSURE AND A MONEY JUDGMENT IN A FLORIDA COURT WITHOUT HOLDING AND MAINTAINING A CERTIFICATE OF AUTHORITY TO TRANSACT BUSINESS IN FLORIDA AS A FOREIGN CORPORATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 607.1501(1), FLORIDA STATUTES.

#### A. <u>Overview.</u>

The Opinion of the District Court is erroneous and should be reversed for the following reasons:

- (1) The District Court misapplied the law regarding the presumption in federal pre-emption analysis, and erroneously applied a presumption that Congress intended to pre-empt section 607.1501(1), Florida Statutes. The correct presumption is that Congress did not intend to pre-empt section 607.1501(1), Florida Statutes.
- (2) The District Court held that the pre-emption of section 607.1501(1), Florida Statutes, is an issue of first impression in Florida. The District Court relied exclusively on decisions from other jurisdictions. The decisions from other jurisdictions upon which the District Court relied are either: (a) not based on principles of pre-emption, set forth no pre-emption analysis to reach their conclusions, and, rely on principles of law other than implicit pre-emption; or (b) erroneously find from the phrase: "to sue or be sued . . . as fully as natural persons"

- a Congressional intent to pre-empt state laws requiring foreign corporation to qualify to transact business in the state before it may access state courts
- (3) The District Court erroneously held that section 607.1501(1), Florida Statutes, was expressly pre-empted without pointing to any language in the National Bank Act sufficiently explicit to justify such express pre-emption.
- (4) The District Court did not analyze section 607.1501(1), Florida Statutes, under principles and practices of implicit federal pre-emption. The application of the principles and practices of implicit federal pre-emption to section 607.1501(1), Florida Statutes, demonstrate no intent of Congress to pre-empt section 607.1501(1), Florida Statutes.

Essentially the District Court made two distinct, mutually exclusive errors. First the District Court relied upon precedent from other jurisdictions, which precedent was either wrong or not germane. Second, the District Court neglected to analyze the federal pre-emption of section 607.1501(1), Florida Statutes, in accordance with principles and practices of federal pre-emption jurisprudence. Either error alone would be sufficient to reverse the District Court Opinion. Cumulatively those errors leave no doubt that the District Court Opinion should be reversed.

#### B. The Requirement for a Certificate of Authority.

Seacoast is a national bank created and existing pursuant to the National Bank Act. Seacoast operates 42 retail branch bank locations in Florida and is headquartered in Stuart, Florida. Seacoast is a foreign corporation transacting business in Florida. Section 607.01401(12), Florida Statutes.

Section 607.1501(1), Florida Statutes, states: "A foreign corporation may not transact business in this state until it obtains a certificate of authority from the Department of State."

Section 607.1502(1), Florida Statutes, states: "A foreign corporation transacting business in this state without a certificate authority may not maintain a proceeding in any court in this state until it obtains a certificate of authority."

The Florida Business Corporation Act (Chapter 607, Florida Statutes) is based on the Model Business Corporation Act ("MBCA"). Section 607.1501(1), Florida Statutes, is based section 15.01(a) of the MBCA. Section 15.01(a) of the MBCA has been enacted in all 50 states.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Model Business Corporation Act (4<sup>th</sup> Edition) as promulgated by the American Bar Association, Business Law Section, Committee on Corporate Laws.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Model Business Corporation Act Annotated (4th Edition) pgs. 15-10 to 15-12. Three states do not provide for a certificate of authority to be issued but require certain filings to be made.

At no time during these proceedings did Seacoast hold a Certificate of Authority from the Florida Department of State to transact business in the State of Florida as a foreign corporation.

The requirement that foreign corporations hold a Certificate of Authority in order to transact business in Florida is a law of fundamental organic importance. Corporations derive their existence and powers from the special or general acts of state and federal legislatures. Corporations do not posses any inherent rights, privileges and immunities, as do individual persons.

Permission for a foreign corporation to transact business in a state is conferred only by the legislature of that state. <u>Taylor v. Branham</u>, 35 Fla. 297, 17 So. 552 (1895). No other legislative body – federal, state or local – can confer that permission. A corporation "must dwell in the place of its creation, and cannot migrate to sovereignty." <u>Bank of Augusta v. Earle</u>, 38 U.S. (13 Pet.) 519, 588 (1839).

If a national bank in Florida does not hold and maintain a Certificate of Authority, it has no corporate power to transact business in Florida or access Florida courts. In pre-empting section 607.1501(1), Florida Statutes, the District Court did not show how national banks otherwise gain permission to transact business in Florida. This is a fundamental flaw in the District Court's pre-emption of section 607.1501(1), Florida Statutes. Congress cannot confer permission upon

national banks to transact business in a given state. There is no provision in the National Bank Act addressing or solving this dilemma. How could Congress intend to pre-empt state laws such as section 607.1501(1) Florida Statutes conferring permission on national banks to transact business in the state and to access State courts without at the same time providing for the grant of such permission from the Florida legislature by means other than section 607.1501(1), Florida. Just how Congress could accomplish this is not clear. The very fact that Congress did not address this problem demonstrates an absence of any Congressional intent to pre-empt section 607.1501(1), Florida Statutes.

#### C. State Government Maintained Repositories

Florida's application for a Certificate of Authority requires the foreign corporation to provide basic information regarding its *incorporation* in the foreign jurisdiction, its principal place of business in Florida, and the name and address of officers and directors, and to designate a registered agent and registered office for service of process in Florida. Section 607.1503, Florida Statutes. Once the Certificate of Authority is issued, the foreign corporation must file an Annual Report with the Florida Department of State to update this basic information. Section 607.1622(1), Florida Statutes.

Florida requires all domestic and foreign artificial entities transacting business within Florida to initially file and then provide Annual Reports. See, for

example, sections 607.0202(1) and 607.1622, Florida Statutes (domestic corporations); sections 608.407 and 608.4511, Florida Statutes (domestic limited liability companies); section 608.501, Florida Statutes (foreign limited liability companies). Using the initial filings and Annual Report as source data, the Florida Department of State Division of Corporations ("Division") maintains for public use a repository of information on all domestic and foreign article entities transacting business in Florida. See <a href="https://www.sunbiz.org">www.sunbiz.org</a>.

State government-maintained repositories of current information regarding entities doing business within the state, such as Florida's <a href="www.sunbiz.org">www.sunbiz.org</a>, are common throughout the United States. These state government-maintained repositories provide essential information to their citizens doing business with such artificial entities.<sup>3</sup>

\_

The Division describes these essential services as follow: "This website is the official business entity index. The Division of Corporations created and maintains sunbiz.org as an online public search mechanism to aid in fostering business activities. Since 1996 all documents and records have been imaged and placed on this website for ready access by all. Sunbiz.org is available worldwide, 24 hours a day, 7 days a week and processes over 240,000,000 events annually. . . . Public information about corporations and other business entities filing activity protects consumers and businesses and ensures that commerce is conducted by properly registered business entities. Sunbiz.org serves as a deterrent to unscrupulous business practices and is used by law enforcement, business entities, and citizens as a resource to locate businesses operating in Florida." See, <a href="https://www.sunbiz.org">www.sunbiz.org</a> at 'Overview of the Division of Corporations.'

As of December 31, 2010, there were 1,458 national banks active in the United States. These include the "too big to fail" national banks, such as Bank of America and Wells Fargo, which have branches in almost every state. Beyond the didactics of modern federal pre-emption analysis to follow, it defies common sense that Congress ever intended national banks, as a class, not to participate in state maintained repositories of basic corporate data. The absence of national banks, as a class, from these repositories leaves a significant gap and diminishes the effectiveness of these repositories not only in Florida but across the nation. Moreover, national banks are not contributing any annual revenue to these repositories in the form of filing fees. Nonetheless, national banks make significant use of these repositories in their daily business – from verifying the status of their customers to litigation.

#### D. <u>Federal Pre-emption.</u>

## 1. Federal Pre-emption in General.

The Supremacy Clause of the United States Constitution provides that the laws of the United States are the supreme law of the land. U.S. Const. Art. VI §2. A state law that is contrary to a federal statute is void or "pre-empted." The two cornerstones of pre-emption jurisprudence are: (a) there is a presumption that Congress does not intend to supersede state law, particularly in areas where states

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> See <u>www.occ.treas.gov/topics/licensing/national-bank-lists/index-national-bank-lists.html</u>.

have historically acted, and (b) the intent of Congress to supersede state law must be clear and manifest. Wyeth v. Levine, \_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_, \_\_\_, 129 S.Ct. 1187, 1193, 173 L.Ed 2d 51, 60 (2009). Further, federal pre-emption jurisprudence establishes two broad areas of judicial inquiry: (a) express pre-emption and (b) implicit pre-emption.

a. <u>Express Pre-emption.</u> Congress may, through explicit statutory language, define the extent to which a federal statute pre-empts state law. <u>Cipollone v. Liggett Group, Inc.</u>, 505 U.S. 504, 112 S.Ct. 2608, 120 L.Ed. 2d 407 (1992). Express pre-emption is the best indication of Congressional intent to pre-empt. In <u>Cipollone</u>, the language of express pre-emption was found in §5 of the Public Health Cigarette Smoking Act of 1968 (codified as 15 U.S.C. <u>Commerce and Trade</u> §1334). Section 5 is labeled "Pre-emption" and states specifically what state laws are pre-empted.<sup>5</sup>

Another example of clear language of express pre-emption is found in the National Bank Act at 12 U.S.C. Banks and Banking §484(a), which reads: "No

conformity with the provisions of this chapter." 15 U.S.C. Commerce and Trade § 1334(b).

17

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> "Pre-emption...(b) State regulations. No requirement or prohibition based on smoking and health shall be imposed under State law with respect to the advertising or promotion of any cigarettes the packages of which are labeled in

national bank shall be subject to any visitorial powers except as authorized by federal law . . . . "

The District Court held in its Opinion, "...we find that section 607.1502(1) is expressly pre-empted as applied to all national bank associations." 770 PPR LLC v. TJVC Land Trust, supra, at 616. The District Court points to 12 U.S.C. Banks and Banking, §24-Fourth as the language of express pre-emption.

12 U.S.C. <u>Banks and Banking</u>, §24-Fourth grants to national banks the enumerated corporate power "[t]o sue and be sued, complain and defend, in any court of law and equity, as fully as natural persons." This statutory language is found in the initial enactment of the National Bank Act on June 3, 1864, and has never been amended. 13 Stat. 99 (1861-1865) at §8. [A:9(c)]

The statutory language "to sue and be sued . . . as fully as natural persons" is not sufficiently explicit to demonstrate an express Congressional intent to preempt, as to national banks, all state law requirements and procedures for granting foreign corporations permission to transact business in the state, and, to access the state's court system.

**b.** <u>Implicit Pre-emption.</u> Absent explicit language of pre-emption in a federal statute, a court must consider whether the purpose, structure and language of the statute reveal a clear, though implicit, Congressional intent to pre-empt the

state law. <u>Altria Group, Inc. v. Good,</u> \_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_ 129 S.Ct. 538 \_\_\_ L.Ed. 407 (2008).

Generally, implied pre-emption is established by showing that: (a) there is an outright or actual operational conflict between the federal statute and state law or "conflict pre-emption." CSX Transp., Inc. v. Easterwood, 507 U.S. 658, 113 S.Ct. 1732, 123 L.Ed. 2d 387 (1993); (b) Congress has legislated so comprehensively in the area that no room is left for state regulation or "preclusion pre-emption." Wisconsin Public Intervenor v. Mortier, 501 U.S. 597, 111 S.Ct. 2476, 115 L.Ed. 2d 532 (1991); or (c) the state law stands as an obstacle to the clear objectives of the federal statute or "obstacle pre-emption." Three Affiliated Tribes of Fort Berthold Reservation v. Wold Engineering, 476 U.S. 877, 106 S.Ct. 2305, 90 L.Ed. 2d 831 (1986).

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