### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

140 ASSOCIATES, LTD., etc., et al., Appellants, v.	CASE NO. SC10-974
SEACOAST NATIONAL BANK, etc., et. al., Appellees.	

# ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE (TJCV LAND TRUST)

# RICHARD A. KUPFER, P.A.

833 Eastview Avenue
Delray Beach, FL 33483
(561) 684-8600
rkupfer2@fdn.com
Counsel for Appellee (TJVC Land Trust)
-and-

# HARVEY R. SCHNEIDER, P.A.

Boca Raton, Florida Co-counsel for Appellee (TJVC Land Trust)

#

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

Every court to have considered this issue has ruled that State filing or registration requirements imposed on a national bank before it can exercise its federally-chartered powers do in fact obstruct, impair or condition the bank's ability to fully exercise such powers and are preempted or inapplicable to national banks. See e.g., Bank of America Nat'l Trust & Sav. Assoc. v. Lima, 103 F. Supp. 916, 918, 920 (D. Mass. 1952)(holding that state statutes requiring registration of foreign corporations before they could sue in state courts are not applicable to national banks, as instrumentalities of the federal government); Indiana Nat'l. Bank v. Roberts, 326 So.2d 802, 803 (Miss. 1976)(same); First Nat'l. Bank of Tonasket v. Slagle, 5 P.2d 1013, 1014 (Wash. 1931)(same); State Nat'l Bank of Connecticut v. Laura, 256 N.Y.S.2d 1004, 1006 (Cty. Ct. 1965)(national bank located in Connecticut may sue in New York without qualifying to do business there). See also OCC Corporate Decision 95-46 (a West Virginia statute prohibiting out-of-state national banks from transacting business in West Virginia is preempted). See also Steward v. Atlantic Nat'l Bank of Boston, 27 F.2d 224, 228 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1928)(declining to construe state foreign corporation statute as including national banks in the absence of unmistakably clear language that the state is attempting to exercise regulatory authority over national banks).

Recently the United States Supreme Court held that a national bank's mortgage business "is subject to the OCC's superintendence, and not to the licensing, reporting, and visitorial regimes of the several states in which the bank operates." See <u>Watters v. Wachovia Bank</u>, 550 U.S. 1 (2007). See also <u>Britt v. Bank of America, N.A.</u>, \_\_ So.3d \_\_ (Fla. 5th DCA case no. 5D10-835, Jan. 14, 2011)(holding Florida's statute prohibiting banks from charging convenience fees to be inapplicable to national banks due to express federal preemption).

The Appellants do not cite a single case from any jurisdiction that supports their argument, but they criticize the cases cited above as having been incorrectly decided. They argue that the phrase "to sue or be sued...as fully as natural persons" doesn't really mean what it says. The Appellants seem to place their primary reliance on an 1871 federal district court case, Manufacturers' Natl Bank v. Baack, 2 Abb U.S. 232, 16 F. Cas. 671 (D.C. N.Y. 1871), which involved the question of "citizenship" of a national bank for purposes of federal diversity jurisdiction. That is clearly off point and has nothing to do with the issue here regarding Florida's foreign corporation statute.

Appellants discuss a number of federal preemption cases that involve "implied preemption" and presumptions against implied preemption, which are not instructive here because, as the Fourth DCA below concluded, this case involves "express preemption". See also some of the cases cited previously that determined the issue involved here to be governed by principles of express preemption. E.g., Bank of America v. Lima, supra; Indiana Natl. Bank v. Roberts, supra; State Nat'l. Bank of Conn. v. Laura, supra.

Even under an "implied preemption" analysis, the Appellants' argument is still incorrect. The Appellants rely on a general presumption that no federal preemption was intended by Congress. However, as noted by the Fourth DCA below, that presumption does not apply to an area of the law that is subject to significant federal presence. See <u>United States v. Locke</u>, 529 U.S. 89, 108 (2000); <u>Aguayo v. U.S. Bank</u>, 658 F.Supp.2d 1226, 1231 (S.D. Cal. 2009). Registration and licensing of national banks is an example of an area of the law that is subject to significant (and indeed, exclusive) federal presence. See <u>Aguayo v. U.S. Bank</u>, *supra*; <u>Bank of America v. City & County of San Francisco</u>, 309 F.3d 551, 558 (9th Cir. 2002).

The Appellants argue that the Fourth DCA below somehow turned the general presumption up-side-down and "shifted" it in favor of federal preemption. (See Appellants' Initial Brief at pp. 5, 10, 32) That is completely untrue. The Fourth DCA did no such thing. There was no "shifting" of any presumption. The Fourth DCA simply noted that the initial presumption against federal preemption "is not implicated" when the area of law being analyzed is subject to significant federal presence. In those cases the presumption doesn't "shift" to the other party, it simply disappears. The Fourth DCA below never said anything to the contrary. Aside from the significant federal presence in the authorization, licensing and registration of national banks, the presumption Appellants rely on is overcome by the express language of 12 U.S.C. §24 and the administrative regulations promulgated pursuant to it and cited above.

Appellants argue (initial brief at p. 20) that the "mundane day-to-day business operations of a national bank" (such as the enforcement of notes and mortgages) is subject to state law. In many respects that is true. Congress did not enact comprehensive federal legislation purporting to govern the general law of contracts, commercial paper, secured transactions, real estate conveyances, and certain other types of day-to-day business functions traditionally carried on by national banks. All banks, state and

federal, are governed by a state's version of the Uniform Commercial Code, real property statutes, trust administration statutes, usury statutes, and many other state laws that govern its daily transactions. But that is <u>not</u> what this case is about. The issue in this appeal is whether a State may condition a national bank's exercise of it's federally-granted powers on first registering with, and being licensed by, and paying annual fees to, and submitting annual reports to the State Division of Corporations.

The Appellants' position in this appeal would effectively deprive national banking associations in general of the ability to conduct any business whatsoever in Florida without receiving a certificate of authority (i.e., a license) at the state level. The power to license and register necessarily includes the power to revoke licensing and registration. That is exclusively a federal power when dealing with national banking associations.

According to Appellants (see initial brief, p. 35), the only consequence to a foreign corporation transacting business in Florida without a certificate of authority is that it cannot access Florida courts. That is totally wrong. It would also mean that under section 607.1502(4), *Florida Statutes*, every national banking association that has heretofore been doing business "illegally" in the State of Florida will owe the State, for all the years it

transacted business, all the fees and taxes which would have been imposed if it was registered as a foreign corporation, as well as a civil penalty of not less than \$500 or more than \$1,000 for each year during which business was "illegally" transacted without a state-issued certificate of authority. Most likely, every national bank in Florida would be liable for that and, in the aggregate, could be facing civil penalties in the millions of dollars. The Appellants are attempting to trivialize their own argument to make it fit within the "implied preemption" analysis, but it clearly does not fit within that analysis (nor is that even the correct analysis in this express preemption case).<sup>2</sup>

At one point in their initial brief (pp. 13-14) Appellants assert that the federal government does not have the power to preempt a state general corporation statute even if it wanted to, because the states traditionally grant permission to corporations to transact business in the state. Not only is that the first time Appellants have raised what would essentially be a constitutional challenge to the National Banking Act's preemptive language, but Appellants cite no provision in the United States Constitution that would

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Appellants' initial brief asserts that there is no federal repository of corporate information similar to that maintained by the State Division of Corporations, which makes it difficult for anyone to obtain information about national banking associations if they do not have to register with the State. It is unclear how that applies to the federal preemption issue at hand, but it should also be pointed out that it is factually incorrect. Such information is available through the web sites of the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency. See, Complaint" example, the "File a Bank page on the OCC (http://www.helpwithmybank.gov/complaints/index.html), which also lists a toll-free number for the OCC Customer Assistance Group to intercede on behalf of national bank customers.

prohibit Congress from creating a national banking system and authorizing federally-chartered national banks to transact business in the several states.

#### **Intent of the Florida Legislature**

The Fourth DCA below stated that, pursuant to Florida law, the bank was "seemingly" required to register and obtain a certificate of authority from the Department of State. Although the Fourth DCA seemed to assume that the Florida Legislature intended to include national banking associations within the ambit of the phrase "foreign corporation" in section 607.1501(1), Florida Statutes, there was no discussion about that in the court's opinion. That is actually a threshold issue because if the Florida Legislature never intended to include national banking associations within the ambit of this statute, it becomes unnecessary to consider the Supremacy Clause or engage in any federal preemption analysis at all. A statute should be construed, if reasonably possible, to avoid an interpretation that would render it unconstitutional or otherwise invalid. See State ex rel. Shevin v. Metz Const. Co., 285 So.2d 598 (Fla. 1973).

There is no reason to believe that the Florida Legislature had any intention to require all national banking associations to register as foreign corporations and apply for a certificate of authority from the State Division of Corporations, and pay annual fees to the State. The Appellants cite no

legislative history that would support such an unlikely intent on the part of the legislature. The Appellants point out that this statute is part of the Model Business Corporation Act adopted in all 50 states, but Appellants do not cite any evidence that the drafters of the Model Business Corporation Act intended this section of the Model Act to apply to national banking associations. Especially since court decisions throughout the country are unanimous in holding that a statute such as this cannot be applied to a national banking association (see cases cited supra at p. 10-11), the Florida Legislature should not be presumed to have enacted a statute that would be in clear conflict with all those cases. The legislature is presumed to be aware of the existing case law and to have intended to enact a statute that comports with such existing law, unless there is reason to believe the opposite. See A.B.A. Industries, Inc. v. City of Pinellas Park, 366 So.2d 761 (Fla. 1979).

At least one court that has considered the precise issue in this case has ruled that, because of the preemption implications, a state legislature should not be presumed to have meant to include national banks within the state's foreign corporation statute in the absence of unmistakably clear language that the state is attempting to exercise regulatory authority over national banks. Steward v. Atlantic Nat'l Bank of Boston, 27 F.2d 224, 228 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir.

1928). That same reasoning applies to the present case since there is no unmistakably clear language in the foreign corporation statute, nor any legislative history to suggest that the legislature intended to include national banking associations within this regulatory statute. In fact, the Florida Business Corporation Act, section 607.0301, *Florida* Statutes, provides that Chapter 607 applies to all corporations, "except that special statutes for regulation control of types of businesses and corporations shall control when in conflict herewith." National banking associations are such special, independently regulated corporations, as discussed above.

This reasoning leads to the same ultimate disposition made by the Fourth DCA below (affirming the summary judgment for the bank), but makes it unnecessary to find any part of the Florida statute to be preempted by federal law. In either case, however, this court should decline the Appellants' invitation to suddenly discard 150 years of unbroken precedent.

# **B.** Discussion of alternative reason to affirm (waiver)

The statement of facts previously set out in this brief at pp. 1-3 presents the course of proceedings giving rise to this procedural issue which the Fourth DCA did not address in its opinion. The entire issue about the bank failing to register as a foreign corporation was not timely raised.

Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.120(a), entitled "Pleading Special Matters" provides:

It is not necessary to aver the capacity of a party to sue or be sued.... When a party desires to raise an issue as to...the capacity of any party to sue or be sued...that party shall do so by specific negative averment which shall include such supporting particulars as are peculiarly within the pleader's knowledge.

Florida appellate courts have interpreted that rule to require a defendant to raise such an issue in the answer and affirmative defenses to the complaint, or else be deemed to have waived the defense. See McDonough Equip. Corp. v. Sunset Amaco West, Inc., 669 So.2d 300 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996). Some appellate courts have also allowed that defense to be raised in a motion directed to the plaintiff's complaint such as a motion to dismiss, a motion to drop a party, or a motion to strike. See Keehn v. Joseph C. Mackey & Co., 420 So.2d 398 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1982). See also Shelbourne Ent., Inc. v. Last, 129 So.2d 430 (Fla. 3d DCA 1961).

In the present case the bank <u>did</u> complain at the summary judgment hearing about the late "eleventh hour" raising of this new defense that was never raised in any pleading nor anytime prior to the bank's motion for summary judgment. (See Statement of Facts, supra) The trial court did not articulate the reason it ultimately rejected the defense challenging the bank's capacity to maintain a law suit in Florida, but the court would have been

justified in doing so for procedural reasons without even reaching the merits.

That constitutes an alternative reason to affirm the trial court's summary judgment.

The Appellants contend that the defense they raised under Florida's foreign corporation statute is not really a "capacity to sue" defense but is instead a challenge to the trial court's subject matter jurisdiction which, they argue, is not waivable and can be raised at any time, even for the first time on appeal. That is incorrect because this issue has nothing to do with the court's subject matter jurisdiction.

The circuit court's subject matter jurisdiction is created and defined by the Florida Constitution Art. V, Section 5; and by *Florida Statutes* section 26.012. The circuit court's subject matter jurisdiction extends to all actions at law not cognizable by the county courts, all suits in equity, all actions for ejectment, and all actions involving title to real property. See §26.012, Fla. Stat. (2009) The foreign corporation statute involved here, § 607.1502(1), Fla. Stat., does nothing to alter the circuit court's subject matter jurisdiction. It simply creates a legal disability on the part of any non-compliant foreign corporation to utilize the Florida court system until it has rectified its non-compliance. That does not impact the circuit court's jurisdiction over the subject matter of the case. In fact, according to section 607.1502(3), the

circuit court can stay the proceeding until the foreign corporation rectifies its non-compliance. If the circuit court lacked subject matter jurisdiction it could not stay the proceeding, but rather, it would have to dismiss it for lack of jurisdiction.

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